S208345

#

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 3 0 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

IN THE

Deputy

### SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MARIBEL BALTAZAR,

Plaintiff,

vs.

FOREVER 21, INC., FOREVER 21 LOGISTICS, LLC, HERBER CORLETO, and, DARLENE YU,

Defendants.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division One
Case No. B237173 (Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. VC059254)

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

The Law Offices of Mark Joseph Valencia, ALC Mark Joseph Valencia, State Bar No: 239876 Izabela Cywinska Valencia, State Bar No: 287721 633 W. 5th Street, 26th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90071

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Does any substantive unconscionability exist in an arbitration agreement when the arbitration agreement allows both the employer and the employee to seek injunctive relief pursuant to *California Code of Civil Procedure* §1281.8, notwithstanding the *Trivedi* Court holding that such agreements favor employers because employers are more likely to seek injunctive relief than an employee? (*Trivedi v. Curexo Technology Corp.*, (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 387, 397).

Is an arbitration agreement inherently one-sided, and accordingly, substantively unconscionable, as stated by the *Pinedo Court*, when it only enumerates employee-initiated disputes as arbitrable, and does not list examples of employer-initiated disputes as arbitrable? (*Pinedo v. Premium Tobacco Stores, Inc.*, (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 774, 781).

Does any substantive unconscionability exist when an arbitration agreement requires both the employer and the employee to agree that the employer, not the employee, has valuable confidential information, and further requires both parties in the course of arbitration proceedings to take "all necessary steps" to protect such information from the public?

### WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision when necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law. (Cal Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b).) Here, the Court of Appeal in *Baltazar*, without question, criticized the *Trivedi* Court of Appeal; the *Baltazar* Court further ignored the *Pinedo* Court of Appeal in its legal analysis. (*Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc.*, (2012) 212 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 221, 238; *Trivedi v. Curexo Technology Corp.*, (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 387, 397; *Pinedo v. Premium Tobacco Stores, Inc.*, (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 774, 781).) Consequently, there is now a split in appellate authority in relation to determining whether or not an arbitration agreement is substantively unconscionable.

Specifically, the *Trivedi* Court held that a provision in an arbitration agreement allowing the parties to seek injunctive relief in court, unfairly favored employers. (*Trivedi v. Curexo Technology Corp.*, (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 387, 397.) The *Trivedi* Court reasoned that it would be much

more likely that employers would benefit from this provision, as opposed to employees, since "it is far more likely that employers will invoke the court's equitable jurisdiction in order to stop employee competition and protect intellectual property." (*Ibid.*) The *Baltazar* Court, however, criticized the *Trivedi* Court, holding that even if such a provision existed in an arbitration agreement, there is still no degree of *any* substantive unconscionability, arguing that employees are just as likely to seek injunctive relief as employers are. (*Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc.*, (2012) 212 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 221, 238-239.)

In addition to criticizing the *Trivedi* Court, the *Baltazar* Court ignored the *Pinedo* Court. The *Pinedo* Court held that when an arbitration agreement only itemizes employee-initiated disputes as arbitrable (i.e., disputes arising from changes in position, conditions of employment or pay, or end of employment), such an itemization is "inherently unfair" and substantively unconscionable because it specifically requires employee-initiated claims to be arbitrated. (*Pinedo v. Premium Tobacco Stores, Inc.*, (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 774, 781) Consequently, such an itemization leaves no doubt that such listed employee-initiated claims are arbitrable, but yet leaves ambiguity as to which specific employer-initiated claims are arbitrable, since those claims are *not readily listed or enumerated*.

The *Baltazar* Court, however, ignored this rationale, and held that even if an arbitration agreement solely enumerates employee-initiated claims, there is no degree of substantive unconscionability, as long as the language preceding the enumeration stated: "including but not limited to." (*Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc.,* (2012) 212 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 221, 234.) This argument, however, lacks complete mutuality, because, the fact remains, employee-initiated claims are itemized, and employer-initiated claims are not itemized, leaving much room for argument by employers as to which of their claims are subject to the arbitration agreement.

The impact of *Baltazar* will continue to perpetuate confusion amongst employers, employees, attorneys, trial courts, and appellate courts alike, and therefore, Maribel Baltazar respectfully requests the Supreme Court to grant her petition so that authority may be uniformed.

### PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On August 4, 2011, Maribel Baltazar, as Jane Doe, sued Forever 21, Inc., Forever 21 Logistics, L.L.C., Herber Corleto, Raul Martinez, and Darlene Yu. On September 8, 2011, Forever 21, Inc., Forever 21 Logistics, L.L.C., Herber Corleto, and Darlene Yu filed a motion to compel arbitration. On October 7, 2011, Los Angeles Superior Court Judge Raul Sahagun denied the motion to compel arbitration holding that the procedurally and substantively agreement was both arbitration unconscionable, and therefore, unenforceable. (I CT 234-235.) Defendants, thereafter, filed a notice of appeal on November 3, 2011. (I CT 236.) The Second Appellate District, Division One, reversed the trial court's ruling on December 20, 2012, finding that even though the arbitration agreement was procedurally unconscionable, the arbitration agreement was not, in any way, substantively unconscionable. The Appellate Court consequently ordered the case to arbitration.

### FACTUAL BACKGROUND - LAWSUIT

Defendant Forever 21 is an international clothing retail merchandizer. (I CT 3-4.) Plaintiff Maribel Baltazar, a woman of Mexican ancestry, was hired as an associate at Forever 21's Distribution Warehouse, which is located in downtown Los Angeles. (*Id.*) As an associate in the Distribution Warehouse, Mrs. Baltazar would assist in receiving and organizing new merchandize, so that the new merchandize may be appropriately delivered to specific Forever 21 retail locations, which would then be sold to the public. (*Id.*)

With regards to racial harassment and discrimination, Mrs. Baltazar alleges that her managers and co-employees, over the course of her employment, would often make highly inappropriate comments about her race. (I CT 5-7.) Specifically, Mrs. Baltazar alleges that her manager, Mr. Jeff Shin ("Mr. Shin"), who is of Korean descent, would often make statements to Mrs. Baltazar saying, "Korean people are better in every way," "all Hispanics are poor and ignorant, and lack an education," and that "Koreans are the best." (*Id.*) Mrs. Baltazar further alleges that Mr. Shin would often tell Mrs. Baltazar that he "was amazed that a Hispanic girl could keep track of all the movement in the warehouse." (*Id.*)

Mrs. Baltazar further alleges that Mr. Shin would randomly tell Mrs. Baltazar that African Americans were "lazy," and by way of example, explained to Mrs. Baltazar that Forever 21 had an African American employee who would often "fall asleep." (Id.) Mrs. Baltazar, at all times, found these comments unwelcomed, highly offensive, and inflammatory. (Id.) Mrs. Baltazar also alleges that her co-employee Darlene Yu ("Ms. Yu") would also make racial remarks towards her. (I CT 7, ln 9-25.) Mrs. Baltazar specifically alleges that Ms. Yu told Mrs. Baltazar that she better change the ink in the printers or that she would "kick" Mrs. Baltazar's "ass." (Id.) Mrs. Baltazar further alleges that Ms. Yu would refer to Mrs. Baltazar as "all you Mexicans" and complain about the way "Mexicans" write. (Id.) Mrs. Baltazar also alleges that Ms. Yu physically intimidated Mrs. Baltazar, by using her shoulder to shove Mrs. Baltazar. (Id.) In addition to the inappropriate comments and physical intimidation, Mrs. Baltazar further alleges that Hispanic associates were paid less than non-Hispanic associates. (I CT 6-7.)

With regards to sexual harassment, Mrs. Baltazar alleges that defendants Mr. Corleto and Mr. Martinez, both co-employees of Mrs. Baltazar, sexually harassed Mrs. Baltazar, with the knowledge and

ratification of Mrs. Baltazar's supervisors. (I CT 4-11.) Specifically, Mrs. Baltazar alleges that Mr. Corleto would sexually harass Mrs. Baltazar by telling her, "woman when do you want to sleep with me," "when do you want me to sleep with you," "you look so good," "you have a good looking butt," "your breasts are too big," "your breasts are getting bigger," [Mrs. Baltazar was pregnant when Mr. Corleto made this comment], and numerous other graphic and highly-vulgar comments that can be found in detail in Mrs. Baltazar's complaint. [I CT 8, ln.1 -9].

With regards to the sexual harassment by Raul Martinez, Mrs. Baltazar's Forever 21 co-employee, Mrs. Baltazar asserts that he would also verbally abuse Mrs. Baltazar, by telling Mrs. Baltazar, "damn baby, are you going to let me hit it or what," "hurry up you f—ing b—, give me my papers," "stupid b—," and "hey stupid b—, when will you let me hit it." (I CT 8, ln. 18-25.) Mrs. Baltazar further asserts that Mr. Martinez further sexually harassed Mrs. Baltazar by coming behind Mrs. Baltazar, as she was bending down and drinking water from a Forever 21 drinking fountain, and rubbing his genitalia against Mrs. Baltazar's genitalia. (I CT 9, ln. 1-9.)

With regards to constructive discharge and retaliation, Mrs. Baltazar asserts that she reported the conduct of Mr. Shin, Mr. Corleto, Mr. Martinez, and Ms. Yu to Forever 21's most senior Human Resources director, Ms. Lisa Kim ("Ms. Kim"). (I CT 10, ln 5-14.) Mrs. Baltazar further asserts that Mrs. Baltazar even wrote a letter to Ms. Kim stating that a Forever 21 employee was "always touching his most intimate parts," as well as other specific instances of harassment. (*Id.*) Mrs. Baltazar, in her letter to Ms. Kim, further requested that the harassment, touching, and groping stop, as Mrs. Baltazar, "can't take it anymore." (*Id.*)

Mrs. Baltazar asserts that a Forever 21 Human Resources representative thereafter contacted Mrs. Baltazar, and told Mrs. Baltazar, "I

have a lot of work. There are a lot of people who have problems," and that it would take some time for an investigation. (I CT 10.) Meanwhile during the pending investigation, Mr. Corleto and Mr. Martinez continued to sexually harass Mrs. Baltazar. (I CT 10, ln 15-22.) Thereafter, Human Resources contacted Mrs. Baltazar and allegedly told her, "Nothing came up. Everyone is covering up. I guess you still need witnesses even though you are telling the truth." (I CT 10, ln 23-26.) In January 2011, Mrs. Baltazar resigned from Forever 21. (I CT 4-10.)

### FACTUAL BACKGROUND - ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

On November 13, 2007, Forever 21 interviewed Mrs. Baltazar Maribel Baltazar for employment. (I CT 206, ln 9-20.) When Mrs. Baltazar arrived, she was greeted by a man who introduced himself as Mr. Ted Chung ("Mr. Chung"). (*Id.*) Mr. Chung thereafter provided Mrs. Baltazar with a comprehensive employment application, which contained numerous signature lines that were already highlighted in yellow for Mrs. Baltazar to sign. (I CT 206-219.)

While filling out the application, Mrs. Baltazar noticed on pages eight and nine of the employment application, that there was an "arbitration agreement." (I CT 206, ln. 21-26, 210-219.) On page nine, there was a signature block that was highlighted in yellow for Mrs. Baltazar to sign. (Id.) Mrs. Baltazar did not sign it, but instead continued filling out the rest of the employment application, and signed all other portions that were highlighted in yellow. (Id.) Mrs. Baltazar thereafter presented her employment application to Mr. Chung. (Id.)

Mrs. Baltazar saw Mr. Chung sit down and review Mrs. Baltazar's employment application. (I CT 207, ln. 1-16.) Mrs. Baltazar noticed that when Mr. Chung reviewed the unsigned arbitration section, Mr. Chung gave Mrs. Baltazar back her entire employment application and told her to sign the arbitration agreement. (*Id.*) Mrs. Baltazar specifically conveyed to

Mr. Chung that she did not want to sign the arbitration agreement. (*Id.*) Mr. Chung told Mrs. Baltazar that she had to sign it. (*Id.*) Mrs. Baltazar then shook her head without saying a word. (*Id.*) Mr. Chung then approached a Forever 21 manager by the name of Mr. Jeff Shin ("Mr. Shin"), and they, in front of Mrs. Baltazar, conversed in Korean, which Mrs. Baltazar did not understand. (*Id.*)

Mrs. Shin then specifically told Mrs. Baltazar, "sign it or no job." Mrs. Baltazar did not want to sign it, but since she was in need of a position and was in need of income since she had just separated from her husband (whom she later reconciled with), and had to immediately support her children, she reluctantly signed the arbitration agreement. (*Id.*) After Mrs. Baltazar signed the arbitration agreement, Forever 21 immediately hired her, and she started work that day. (*Id.*)

Three months later in February 2008, Forever 21 tasked Mrs. Baltazar with processing new hire applications. (I CT 207, ln. 17-26.) After interacting with some of the new hires, Mrs. Baltazar realized that some of the new hires exclusively spoke Spanish. (*Id.*) Mrs. Baltazar thereafter approached Mr. Chung and asked if it was possible for the entire employment application to be in Spanish. (*Id.*) Mr. Chung informed Mrs. Baltazar that he would talk to Human Resources. (*Id.*) Mrs. Baltazar and Mr. Chung then discussed the necessity of the arbitration agreement and Mr. Chung informed Mrs. Baltazar that Forever 21 wants to arbitrate because it does not want to be bothered with a jury trial. (*Id.*) He further informed Mrs. Baltazar that "Human Resources wants everything signed." (*Id.*)

Thereafter in June 2008, Mrs. Baltazar processed the employment application of a prospective Forever 21 employee. (I CT 208, ln 1-11.) The prospective employee informed Mrs. Baltazar that she also did not want to sign the arbitration agreement. (*Id.*) Mrs. Baltazar and the prospective

employees walked together to the main warehouse office. (*Id.*) Mrs. Baltazar informed Mr. Chung that the prospective employee did not want to sign the arbitration agreement. (*Id.*) Mr. Chung again confirmed to Mrs. Baltazar that all employees must sign the arbitration agreement. (*Id.*) The prospective employee then signed the arbitration agreement and departed from the main warehouse. (*Id.*) At this point, Mrs. Baltazar was in the office with both Mr. Jeff Shin and Mr. Chung. (*Id.*) Mrs. Baltazar again asked about the arbitration agreement. (*Id.*) Mr. Shin explained to Mrs. Baltazar that all the employees have to sign the arbitration agreement, and then told Mrs. Baltazar, "We Koreans have to be smart." (*Id.*)

With regards to the actual arbitration agreement that Mrs. Baltazar signed with Forever 21, the arbitration agreement lists only employee-initiated disputes subject to arbitration, not employer-initiated disputes. (1 CT 216.) Specifically, the arbitration agreement lists the following types of disputes, all of which are employee-initiated:

"claims for wages or other compensation due; claims for breach of any employment contract or covenant (express or implied); claims for unlawful discrimination, retaliation harassment (including, but not limited to, claims based on employment benefits (except where an Employee's benefit or pension plan contains a claims procedure which expressly provides for a final and binding arbitration procedure different from this one)), and Disputes arising out of or relation to the termination of the employment relationship between the parties, whether based on common law or statute, regulation, or ordinance." (I CT 216.)

Additional provisions within the arbitration agreement include:

"Pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure §1281.8 either party hereto may apply to a California Court for any provisional remedy, including a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction. (I CT 216.)

\*\*\*

"Both parties agree that the Company has valuable trade secrets and proprietary and confidential information. Both parties agree that in the course of any arbitration proceeding all necessary steps will be taken to protect from public disclosure such trade secrets and proprietary and confidential information." (I CT 216.)

### **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

I.

THE BALTAZAR COURT CRITICIZED THE TRIVEDI COURT, AND NOW THE LAW IS UNSETTLED AS TO ARBITRATION WHETHER OR **NOT** AN AGREEMENT THAT ALLOWS THE PARTIES TO SEEK INJUNCTIVE RELIEF IS SUBSTANTIVELY UNCONSCIONABLE, ESPECIALLY IN LIGHT OF TRIVEDI **COURT ASSERTING** THAT THE EMPLOYERS ARE MUCH MORE LIKELY THAN EMPLOYEES TO SEEK SUCH RELIEF.

The Trivedi Court, in its 2010 opinion, held that the arbitration both procedurally and substantively agreement at issue was unconscionable, and therefore unenforceable. (Trivedi v. Curexo Technology Corp., (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 387.) Particularly, the Trivedi arbitration agreement was substantively the Court noted that unconscionable because it included a provision allowing the parties to seek injunctive relief - relief very similar in scope to *California Code of Civil Procedure* §1281.8. (*Id.* at p. 396-397.) The Court reasoned that the provision in the arbitration agreement was one-sided because such a provision favored employers because employers were more likely to seek such relief. Specifically, the *Trivedi* Court held:

"However, we are convinced by the trial court's other observation that allowing the parties access to the courts only for injunctive relief favors Curexo, because it is 'more likely that [Curexo], as the employer, would seek injunctive relief.' While the trial judge did not cite authority supporting this conclusion, it is not a novel or unsupportable proposition. This same comment was made by the Fitz court, which observed that it is far more likely that employers will invoke the court's equitable jurisdiction in order to stop competition or to protect intellectual property. (Fitz v. NCR Corp. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 702, 725.) This same point was made by the court in Mercuro v. Superior Court (2002) Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 167, 176)." (*Id.* at p. 396-397.)

The *Baltazar* Court, however, stated that it did not agree "with the analysis of mutuality in *Trivedi*." (*Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc.*, (2012) 212 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 221, 238.) The *Baltazar* Court, argued, that it could not say that Forever 21 is more likely to seek injunctive relief than an employee, because in the present case, Mrs. Baltazar asserts six causes of action pursuant to the Fair Employment and Housing Act ("FEHA"), which, pursuant to *Cal. Govt. Code* §12965(c), authorizes an employee to seek injunctive relief. (*Id.* at p. 239.) This argument does not distinguish between potential and actual relief that Mrs. Baltazar is seeking. It is true that Mrs. Baltazar sues for six causes of action pursuant to the FEHA, however, she does not sue for any type of injunctive relief pursuant to *California Govt. Code* §12965, as the *Baltazar* Court opines. Rather, Mrs.

Baltazar, sues for Hostile Work Environment pursuant to *Cal. Govt. Code* §12940(j), Failure to Prevent Harassment pursuant to *Cal. Govt. Code* §12940(k), Discrimination based on Race pursuant to *Cal. Govt. Code* §12940(a), and Retaliation pursuant to *Cal. Govt. Code* §12940(h). (I CT 3-4.) Accordingly, when the Court asserts that the injunctive relief provision in the arbitration agreement does not favor employers more so than employees, it incorrectly presumes that Mrs. Baltazar is seeking injunctive relief at the outset, when in reality, her causes of action in her complaint seek monetary relief, and she does not seek injunctive relief pursuant to *Cal. Govt. Code* §12965.

The other arguments offered by the Baltazar court are also unavailing. The Baltazar Court states that the cases cited by the Trivedi court do not support the proposition of the Trivedi rationale - that is, the Mercuro and Fitz cases, as relied upon by the Trivedi Court, do not suggest that the incorporation of section 1281.8 into an arbitration agreement is unconscionable. (Baltazar v. Forever 21 Inc., (2012) 212 Cal.App.4th 221, 238 citing Mercuro v. Superior Court (2002) 96 Cal. App. 4th 167 and Fitz v. NCR Corp. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 702, 709.) However, when one carefully reviews the Trivedi rationale, the Trivedi Court did not cite Mercuro and Fitz to support the argument that the insertion of California Civil Procedure §1281.8 into an arbitration agreement is unconscionable, but rather, it cited *Mercuro* and *Fitz* to support the proposition that employers are more likely to *invoke* injunctive relief "in order to stop employee competition or to protect intellectual property." (Trivedi v. Curexo Technology Corporation, supra, 189 Cal.App.4th at p. 397.) This interpretation by the Trivedi Court supports its opinion and rationale that employers are more likely to benefit from injunctive relief in an arbitration The Baltazar Court, however, fails to clash with this agreement. proposition.

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