Case No. S208345

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COUN.

FEB 1 5 2013

MARIBEL BALTAZAR

Frank A. McGuire Clark

Plaintiff and Respondent

Deputy

FOREVER 21, INC., FOREVER 21 LOGISTICS, LLC, HERBER CORLETO, and DARLENE YU

Defendants and Appellants.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL,
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE
CASE NO. BC237173 (LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT NO.

VC059254

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

GILBERT, KELLY, CROWLEY & JENNETT LLP ARTHUR J. MCKEON, III, BAR NO. 082540 REBECCA J. SMITH, BAR NO. 150428 1055 West 7<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 2000

Los Angeles, CA 90017

Telephone: (213) 615-7000

Facsimile: (213) 615-7100

ajm@gilbertkelly.com

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

In declining to apply the *Trivedi* analysis, the *Baltazar* Court first noted the cases relied on in *Trivedi* (*Mercuro v. Superior Court* (2002) 96 Cal. App. 4th 174, and *Fitz v. NCR Corp.* (2004) 118 Cal. App. 4th 702 do not stand for the proposition asserted in *Trivedi*. Specifically, the *Baltazar* Court noted that those cases "do not suggest that the incorporation of section *California Code of Civil Procedure* §1281.8 is unconscionable." Additionally, noting the specific facts in the case before them, the *Baltazar* Court noted that it could not "say that Forever 21 is more likely to seek

injunctive relief than an employee" as the court had concluded in *Trivedi*. Finally, since "section 1281.8 would apply even if it were not expressly mentioned in the agreement" the *Baltazar* Court concluded that expressly incorporating what would otherwise be automatically read into the agreement cannot create substantive unconscionability.

The *Trivedi* Court, without explanation veered from the line of cases addressing the issue of whether reserving injunctive relief to the court in arbitration agreements created unconscionability. The *Baltazar* Court in their opinion merely held consistent with the previous cases on the subject matter and placed such issue back on course.

Plaintiff further argues that the *Baltazar* Court ignored the *Pinedo* case and by doing so created a split in authority. Plaintiff erroneously reads the *Pinedo* case for the proposition that an arbitration agreement which only itemizes employee-initiated disputes as arbitrable is inherently unfair and unconscionable. In fact, the *Pinedo* Court did not hold that all arbitration agreements which contain a non-exhaustive list of arbitrable claims were unconscionable, but rather addressed only the language of the agreement before it. The language in the agreement signed by Baltazar is noticeably different from the language in *Pindeo*, most notably providing that items to be arbitrated *included*, *but were not limited to* those set forth in the agreement, Plaintiff has failed to identified any conflict between the *Pinedo* and *Baltazar* cases which would warrant review.

Plaintiff further asserts that review is warranted in that the Baltazar Court's opinion is in conflict this court's opinion in *Little v. Auto Stiegler*, *Inc.* (2003) 29 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1064. There is not a conflict between the *Baltazar* Court's opinion and the decision in the *Little* case as the *Little* case, while standing for the general proposition that substantive unconscionability exists where the terms of an arbitration agreement are written to favor one party, also recognized that asymmetrical provision which are included for purposes other than the employer's desire to maximize its advantage are not unconscionable.

Review should be denied for the simple reason that Plaintiff's petition neither presents an important question of law nor a necessity to secure uniformity of decision. Accordingly, Defendants respectfully request that Plaintiff's Petition be denied so that the Parties may proceed to arbitration in accordance with the Agreement to which Plaintiff and Defendants agreed to be bound.

#### II. LEGAL DISCUSSION

- A. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR SUPREME COURT

  REVIEW BECAUSE THE PETITION NEITHER ASSERTS

  AN IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW NOR PRESENTS A

  NECESSITY TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION.
  - 1. THE BALTAZAR COURT'S CRITICISM OF THE
    TRIVEDI DECISION DOES NOT CREAT A
    REVIEWABLE ISSUED BY THIS COURT.

Plaintiff maintains that "The Baltazar Court criticized the Trivedi Court, and now the law is unsettled as to whether or not an arbitration agreement that allows the parties to seek injunctive relief is substantively unconscionable." (Petition, P. 10) Plaintiff's first basis for seeking review is the erroneous conclusion that substantive unconscionability exists in an arbitration agreement even when the arbitration agreement allows both the employer and the employee to seek injunctive relief. Relying on the Trivedi case, plaintiff argues that permitting injunctive relief through the courts in an arbitration agreement favors employers because employers are more likely too seek injunctive relief than employees. Plaintiff further argues in misplaced reliance on Trivedi that an agreement's specific incorporation of California Code of Civil Procedure §1281.8 renders it unconscionable. In declining to apply the Trivedi analysis, the Baltazar Court pointed to two incongruities. First the Baltazar Court indicated that the cases relied on in Trivedi (Mercuro v. Superior Court (2002) 96 Cal.

App. 4th 174, and *Fitz v. NCR Corp.* (2004) 118 Cal. App. 4th 702 "do not suggest that the incorporation of section 1281.8 is unconscionable." Rather, *Mercuro* and *Fitz* dealt with carve-outs in arbitration agreements that were cherry picked by the employer and were clearly unilateral. Further the court in *Trivedi* itself specifically noted that the clause under their analysis was substantively unconscionable, in that "[t]he provision regarding injunctive relief also appears to create greater access to injunctive relief than what is permitted under C[ode of] C[ivil] P[rocedure] section 1281.8 [subdivision] (b)" (*Trivedi v. Curexo Tech. Corp.*, 189 Cal. App. 4th at 396) a claim which is not made in regard to the present case. Accordingly the arbitration provisions in *Trivedi* and *Baltazar* significantly differ.

Additionally, the *Baltazar* Court noted that it could not "say that Forever 21 is more likely to seek injunctive relief than an employee." As the Court astutely pointed out, seven of Baltazar's nine claims were brought under statutes that allow her to seek injunctive relief. Interestingly, Plaintiff argues in her Petition that "she does not sue for any type of injunctive relief pursuant to California Government Code §12965, as the *Baltazar* Court opines" (Petition, P. 11) Rather, plaintiff argues she sued for Discrimination and Harassment based on various protected class under the Fair Employment and Housing Act. (Petition, PP 11-12) What plaintiff fails to address is that California Government Code §12965 provides the mechanism by which an individual may enforce or address violations of the

Fair Employment and Housing Act. Accordingly, by virtue of bringing the claims under the Fair Employment and Housing Act, §12965 of the Government Code is implicated. Since §12965 provides for remedies, including injunctive relief, the Baltazar Court's assertion that the injunctive relief provision in the arbitration agreement does not favor employers more so than employees is an appropriate conclusion.

Finally, the Court observed that because the agreement is subject to the CAA, not the FAA, "section 1281.8 would apply even if it were not expressly mentioned in the agreement." Expressly incorporating what would otherwise be automatically read into the agreement cannot create substantive unconscionability. Plaintiff appears to argue that including injunctive relief for both parties is unconscionable, regardless of the fact that a statute (1281.8) provides support for the inclusion of such terms within. This argument is unsupported by any authority. Further, plaintiff argues that the Baltazar Court's opinion that "section 1281.8 would apply even if it were not expressly mentioned in the agreement" is incorrect since in Plaintiff's analysis the CAA applies only after the arbitration agreement is deemed enforceable. Plaintiff's argument in essence is that if the contract is deemed unconscionable, the CAA is inapplicable. Plaintiff's argue is unsupported by authority and is an irrational interpretation of the law. Plaintiff concedes that the agreement at issue is governed by the CAA. Plaintiff also concedes that the CAA provides for injunctive relief

during the arbitration process. Plaintiff; however argues that since the agreement in question is unconscionable because it provides for mutual injunctive relief hat the CAA will never come into play to help resolve that issue in that the agreement must be deemed "conscionable" first. Simply stated, the CAA does not apply only after the agreement is deemed enforceable, but rather the CAA is one of the mechanism by which the agreement is evaluated

The criticizing by the *Baltazar* Court of the Trivedi opinion does not create a reviewable issue by this Court. The *Trivedi* Court, without explanation veered from the line of cases addressing the issue of whether reserving injunctive relief to the court in arbitration agreements created unconscionability. The *Baltazar* Court in their opinion, merely held consistent with the previous cases on the subject matter and placed such issue back on course.

# 2. THE BALTAZAR COURT'S FAILURE TO ADDRESS THE PINEDO CASE DOES NOT CREATE A SPLIT OF AUTHORITY.

Plaintiff asserts that the *Baltazar* Court ignored the *Pinedo* case and by doing so created a split in authority. Plaintiff cites the *Pinedo* case for the proposition that an arbitration agreement which only itemizes employee-initiated disputes as arbitrable is inherently unfair and unconscionable. There are two problems with this argument. First, this is

not what the *Pinedo* opinion holds and second, the arbitration agreement at issue in the *Baltaza*r case is noticeable distinguishable from the language in the *Pinedo* case.

In *Pinedo*, the court was confronted with an arbitration provision which included language that the arbitrable disputes were:

Any controversy or dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or relating to Employee's employment by Employer including any changes in position, conditions of employment or pay, or the end of employment thereof (*Pinedo*, 85 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 776).

The agreement further provided:

Employee recognizes that by agreeing to arbitrate all disputes, it is knowingly and willingly waiving its right to a trial by jury and waiving any other statutory remedy it might have concerning any such dispute including, but not limited to, disputes concerning claims for harassment or discrimination due to race, religion, sex or age." (*Id*)

Relying on that language, the court in *Pinedo* held that the agreement was one-sided in that "it addresses only claims involving terms of employment described as claims based on 'changes in position, conditions of employment or pay, or the end of the employment." (*Id*) The *Pinedo* Court however **did not hold** that all arbitration agreements which contain a non-exhaustive list of arbitrable claims were unconscionable.

Citing the list included in her agreement as to the disputes which must be arbitrated, *Baltazar* argues that the agreement was set up to force only claims brought by employees into arbitration. While the list did consist of claims that employees would most likely bring against their employer, the *Baltazar* Court recognized that adjacent language in the

agreement destroyed plaintiff's argument and clearly distinguishes the agreement from that in the *Pinedo* case. Specifically, the fact that the list was prefaced by the phrase "include but are not limited to" and the fact that the paragraph immediately following stated that "each of the parties voluntarily and irrevocably waives any and all rights to have any Dispute heard or resolved in any forum other than through arbitration" led the *Baltazar* Court to correctly recognize that the agreement was bilateral, rather than unilateral and as such distinguishable from the agreement and therefore the holding in the *Pinedo* case.

Plaintiff attempts to argue that the language in *Pinedo* parallels that in the agreement signed by plaintiff. Specifically, plaintiff states that the Pinedo agreement included "similar language" to the Baltazar agreement citing to the Pinedo provision which provided "any controversy or dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or relating to Employee's employment by employer." (Petition, P. 15) This language is not similar to that in *Baltazar* and is not clear and explicit in regard to the claims to be arbitrated whereas the language in the Baltazar agreement is. Significantly, nowhere in the *Pinedo* agreement is there any language which indicates that the list is not limited to those outlined. Unlike the *Pinedo* language the language in the agreement signed by Baltazar indicated that the matters which were to be arbitrated "included" but were "not limited to" those enumerated. Thus expressly including claims beyond those which were

articulated in the agreement. Equally as important the language of *Pinedo* specifically provided that the Employee recognized that it was waiving its right to a jury trial; while the language in Baltazar clearly indicated that "each of the parties" were bound by the arbitration agreement and were waiving their right to a jury trial.

## 3. THE BALTAZAR COURT'S DECISION IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE DECISION IN LITTLE.

Finally, plaintiff argues that the *Baltazar* Court contravenes this Court's decision in *Little v. Auto Stiegler, Inc.* (20030 29 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1064.)

Again, the argument is forced and contrived and does nothing to establish grounds for requesting review from this Court. Plaintiff argues that the *Little* case stands for the proposition that substantive unconscionably refers to terms that unreasonably favor one party. The *Little* case does stand for such proposition. However, plaintiff goes on to assert that the *Little* case supports a conclusion that requiring an employee to take all necessary steps during arbitration to preserve an employer's confidential information imposes a one-sided obligation sufficient to conclude that there is unconscionability. The *Little* case DOES NOT stand for such proposition.

Plaintiff has taken issue with the provision of the agreement which stated:

Both parties agree that the Company has valuable trade secrets and proprietary and confidential information. Both parties agree that in the course of any arbitration proceeding all necessary steps will be taken to protect from public disclosure such trade secrets and propriety and confidential information.

It is not clear from either the Respondent's Brief at the Court of Appeals or the present petition how the employee's agreeing to protect the employer's trade secrets or proprietary and confidential information" renders the agreement unconscionable. Plaintiff merely argues that because an obligation is imposed upon the employee that the terms "favor" one party and as such the agreement is unconscionable. The Baltazar Court held otherwise, finding that this provision was sufficiently narrow and consistent with both the Uniform Trade Secrets Act and general confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements. This holding is not inconsistent with *Little*, but rather is ultimately consistent based on the Little Court's own language. In Little the court, citing to Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83 specifically confirmed that parties may justify an asymmetrical arbitration agreement when there is a legitimate commercial need. Little, 29 Cal.4th 1064, 1073 citing Armendariz, supra, 24 Cal.4th at p. 117. What the law allows, according to Little is that the asymmetrical provision must be "other than the employer's desire to maximize its advantage" in the arbitration process. Little, 29 Cal.4th at 1073 citing Armendariz, supra, 24 cal.4th at p. 120.

There have been no facts or argument placed before any of the courts (Trial, Court of Appeal, or Supreme Court) that the confidentiality provision was intended to or in any manner maximizes Defendants

advantage in the arbitration process. Accordingly, there is no conflict between the *Little* decision and the *Baltazar* decision.

#### B. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court of Appeal properly reversed the trial court's Order denying Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and ordered that the trial court enter an order granting Defendant's Motion and ordering arbitration. Thus, Defendants' respectfully request this Court deny review of Plaintiff's Petition so that the Parties may proceed to arbitration on Plaintiff's claims in accordance with the Agreemene4t to which Plaintiff and Defendants agreed to be bound.